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ZHANG, IOSIF MULLAEV, and KELLY
MACON, individually and on behalf of all
others similarly situated
Plaintiffs, No. 16-CV-3850 (RA)
V. OPINION & ORDER

THE CITY OF NEW YORK, DAVID
YASSKY, MEERA JOSHI, and THE NEW
YORK CITY TAXI and LIMOUSINE
COMMISSION,

Defendants.

RONNIE ABRAMS, United Sites District Judge:

Plaintiffs Angel DeCastro, Susan Calvo, &elly Macon bring thigutative class action
against the City of New York and the New YdZky Taxi and Limousine Commission (“TLC"),
challenging the warrantless seieuof vehicles they owned aperated under the Fourth and
Fourteenth Amendments. Before the Court ageptlirties’ cross-motions for summary judgment.
Bound in large part by the decisioofthe Hon. Valerie Caproni iHarrell v. City of New York
the Court concludes that the City’s policy oagtice of seizing vehiek suspected of being
operated for hire without proper licensing, aplegal to individuals whose vehicles bear TLC
license plates and to vehicle ogrs who have beendnd liable for a licensingiolation in the 36
months before their vehicles are seized, violttesFourth AmendmentThe Court concludes,

however, that the City’s procedure for seizing andingng vehicles allegegisubject to forfeiture
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does not violate the Due Process Clause of thetéenth Amendment. agordingly, both parties’
cross-motions for summary judgment ararged in part and denied in part.
BACKGROUND?
A. Statutory Framework and Enforcement Policy

1. Vehicle Seizures

Under 8§ 19-506(b)(1) of the New York City Admstrative Code, it is illegal to knowingly
operate or allow another to operate any vehicle for hire “without first having obtained or knowing
that another has obtainedieense” for the vehicle. N.C. Admin. Code § 19-506(b)(%).A
violation of 8§ 19-506(b)(1) is aione, punishable by a fine, a term of imprisonment, or b8ie
id.4

Under § 19-506(h)(1), any officer or desigmble.C employee may seize a vehicle he or

she has “probable cause to believe is operateaffered to be operated without a license” in

! Plaintiffs have withdrawn their claims against Defendants David Yassky and Meera Seshi.
Pls.” Mem. in Further Supp. of Mot. for Summ J. & in Opp’n &€’ Cross-Mot. for Summ J. (“Pl. Reply
Mem.”) at 25 (Dkt. 92). The Clerk of Court is resgfully directed to remove these Defendants from the
caption.

2 These facts are drawn from the parties’ submissin connection with their cross-motions for
summary judgment, including Plaintiffs’ Rule 56.1 Statement in Support of Their Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Pl. 56.1") (Dkt. 62), Defendula’ Rule 56.1 Statement of Material Undisputed Facts (“Def.
56.1") (Dkt. 88), Defendants’ Responsasd Objections to Plaintiffs’ &tement Pursuant to Local Rule
56.1 (“Def. 56.1 Resp.”) (Dkt. 89), and Plaintiffs’ §tmnse to Defendants’ Rule 56.1 Statement (“Pl. 56.1
Resp.”) (Dkt. 93). Where facts stated in a party’s Rule 56.1 statement are supported by testimonial or
documentary evidence, and denied by any conclusatement by the other party without citation to
conflicting testimonial or documentary evidence, the Court finds such facts to b&é&eeD.N.Y. Local
Rule 56.1(c)—(d).

3 Under the Rules of the City of New York, a “for-hire vehicle” is defined as “a motor Vehicle
licensed by the Commission to carry Passengers folishttee City,” which: (1) “[h]as a seating capacity
of 20 or fewer Passengers”; (2) “[h]as three or more doors”; and (3) “[i]s not a Taxicab, a Commuter Van,
or an authorized bus as defined by NYS law.” 35 R.C.N.Y. § 51-03.

4 Under § 19-506(b)(2), which therfias do not address in this case, it is unlawful for any person
to “permit another to operate” or to “knowingly operateffer to operate for hire any vehicle licensed” as
a for-hire vehicle “in a manner that is beyond the sodplee activities permitted by such vehicle’s license.”
N.Y.C. Admin. Code § 19-506(b)(2). A violation of § 19-506(b)(2), like a violation of 8§ 19-506(b)(1), is
punishable by a fine, a term of imprisonment, or b&&e id.
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violation of § 19-506(b)(1).See id.§8 19-506(h)(1). Under § 19-506(@), an owner’s interest
in an unlicensed vehicle for hire is “subject tofégure” if the owner hga been convicted of or
found liable for at least two violatiomms 8§ 19-506(b)(1) within 36 monthSedd. 8 19-506(h)(2).

At least six TLC employees have providesti@ony or declarations regarding the TLC’s
enforcement of these provisions. Four TLC inspectors have submitted declarations describing the
procedures they follow when determining whetioeseize a vehicle based a suspected violation
of 8§ 19-506(b).SeeDecl. of Philip White (“White Decl.”) (Dkt. 84); Decl. of Ronald Prioleau
(“Prioleau Decl.”) (Dkt. 85); Declof Sherif Issa (“Issa Dec).”(Dkt. 86); Decl. of Zbigniew
Fimiarz (“Fimiarz Decl.”) (Dkt. 87). Each of thegespectors states thatt the time of a vehicle
stop, he obtains the driver'scénse and the vehiclewner’s registrationthen relays this
information to an operator in a TLC radio roosccording to these inspectors, the operator then
enters this information into a New York St&iepartment of Motor Vehicles (“DMV”) database
and a TLC database to determine whether tten$ie and registration are valid and whether the
driver and vehicle are licensed by the TLC. Thspettors explain that, & vehicle is unlicensed,

a search in the TLC database wikld a response ohd records” or “unlicesed entity.” A “no
records” response means that “the vehicle@wnever previouslyeceived a summons” under

§ 19-506(b)(1). An “unlicensed entity” respormethe other hand, means that “the vehicle owner
previously received a summons” wndg 19-506(b)(1). Each inspecsbates that TLC radio room
operators “routinely inform” him “whether the datese search produced ‘no records’ or a record

of an ‘unlicensed entity.”

According to Edwin Mulero, the Deputy Chigff Enforcement at the TLC, TLC inspectors

do not consider whether a vehicdener or driver has been citéat a prior violation of § 19-506



in determining whether to seize her vehiclé&pecifically, Muleroprovided the following
deposition testimony:

Q: Now [at the time of a vehicle seizurgjould the TLC inspector learn whether

or not that vehicle or thalriver had previously beented for a violation of Section

19-5067?

A: We don't look. We don’t get the histoon the — at that car stop, we don’t get
the history if that vehicle’been seized before or not.

Q: Does there come a time later in the process when you do get that information?

A: Normally, there’s what they call a 90umber that’'s generated. And if that

comes up that vehicle has been seizedrbefdut that does not play into any

decision if that vehicle’s gog to be seized or not.

Decl. of Andrew M. St. Larent (“St. Laurent Decl.”) Ex. 3 at 77:6—-20 (Dkt. 61).

Finally, Rafeael Torres, a lieutenant in taiformed Services Bureau at the TLC, has
submitted a declaration regarding his experieincéhe TLC radio room, where he has been
assigned on “numerous occasions” to provide figdgectors with information on vehicle owners
and drivers from the TLC and DMV databas&zeReply Decl. of Rafaelorres (“Torres Reply
Decl.”) 11 (Dkt. 97). Torres states that recardthe TLC database, to which he “and all others
who operate the radio room have access,” incittte summons history for each entity, licensed
or unlicensed,” including “the date the entit\as summonsed, the gdasition of the summons,
and any fines paid on the summong&d” § 7.

2. Post-Seizure Hearings

When a vehicle is seized for suspected unlicensed activity, a hearing must be held within
five business days before the Taxi and Limou3inkunal at the City’s Office of Administrative

Trials and Hearings (“OATH")See35 R.C.N.Y. § 68-17(c)(1). Akbe hearing, “a determination

will be made” with respect to the following issues:



(A) Whether the Owner engaged in the Unlicensed Activity alleged in the
summonsy;]

(B) If the Owner is found to have engage such Unlicensed Activity, then:

(i) Whether the Owner has two or masielations of 88 19506(b), (c), or (k)
of the Administrative Code ithe past 36 months . . .; and

(i) Whether it is necessary th#the vehicle remain impounded pending a
judgment of forfeiture.

If the vehicle owner is found not guilty e hearing, her vehicle will be releas&ke id.

§ 68-17(d)(1). If, however, the TLC tribunal finttee vehicle owner guilty and determines that
the vehicle is subject to forfeiture on the basithefowner’s prior violations, the TLC “will retain
the vehicle and commenedorfeiture action.”ld. 8§ 68—17(d)(2)(AY.

Between September 8, 2011 and May 24, 2016, thedl not initiate any forfeiture
proceedings under 8§ 19-506(h)(ZeeSt. Laurent Decl. Ex. 4. On October 27, 2016, Mulero
testified that, to his knowledge, the TLC had nesarght forfeiture of a \ecle that was seized
on the basis of a 8 19-506 violatio®seeSt. Laurent Decl. Ex. &t 124:10-14. On April 24,
2017—as the parties were briefing their respeatiations for summary judgment in this case—
the City filed a forfeiture compiiat against a non-party defendai@eeCompl.,City of New York
v. Harris, No. 451060/2017 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Apr. 24, 2017).

B. Harrell v. City of New York

This Court is not the first to consider cotigibnal challenges to the City’s warrantless

seizure of vehicles based on suspedtiethtions of § 19-506(b)(1). IHarrell v. City of New

York which is currently pending before the Hon.l&f&e Caproni, a putative class of individuals

® If the vehicle owner is found guilty but her veli$ not subject to forfeiture, the TLC will release
the vehicle “upon payment of applicable penalties.” 35 R.C.N.Y. § 68-17(d)(2)(B).
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and entities “whose vehicles habeen seized by the TLC based allegations of first-time
violations” of § 19-506 claim thatehCity’s alleged seizures of their vehicles violate the Fourth
and Fourteenth Amendments. Am. Compl. fidsrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-7246
(VEC) (Nov. 13, 2014) (Dkt. 24) Harrell Am. Compl.”)®

On September 30, 2015, Judge Caproni granteHidhesll plaintiffs summary judgment
against the City on their Fourtimé Fourteenth Amendment claimSee Harrell v. City of New
York 138 F. Supp. 3d 479, 484 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). Judged@a held that “the City’s procedure
of seizing vehicles that arsuspected of being used for hire without propeensing is
unconstitutional under the Fourth afaurteenth Amendments as ifdips to vehicle owners with
no prior violations in the preceding 36 monthsd. In ruling that the City’s procedure violates
the Fourth Amendment, Judg€aproni rejected the City’sarguments that either the
“instrumentality of crime” or “exigent circustances” exceptions to the Fourth Amendment’s
warrant requirement justified the failure to obtaiarrants before seizingétplaintiffs’ vehicles.
See id.at 489-92. In Judge Caproni’'s view, the City’s argument that it could seize vehicles as
contraband or as instrumentalities of aimisimply does not fly” because, unlike child
pornography, “[s]traight @ for-hire vehicles are simply nabntraband,” and because the City
“never intend[ed] to criminally prosecttthe alleged violatins of § 19-506(b)(1)Id. at 490.
The exigent circumstances exception did notyppldge Caproni reasoned, because the City’s
“intent” when seizing the vehicles was “to netuhem to their owrreupon payment of the bond

or penalty”’—not, as the City had claimed, to protketpublic from unsafe anadequately insured

% At oral argument on their motion for summary judgmentHagell plaintiffs indicated that they
sought relief only on behalf of individuals with “swght plates,” that is, individuals whose seized vehicles
did not bear TLC license plateSe€eTr. of Oral Arg. at 6:19—-2@arrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-
7246 (VEC) (Sept. 24, 2015) (Dkt. 55Harrell Oral Arg. Tr.”) (“If we're defining the class, it would only
be for straight-plate drivers.”).



vehicles. Id. at 491. In resolving the Fourth Andiment question presented, however, Judge
Caproni was careful to note thidarrell did not involve the question oihether the City could,
consistent with the Fourth Amendment, seizelacle without a warrant based on “probable cause
to believe that the vehicle to be sszs subject to civil forfeiture.ld. at 487.

Judge Caproni then determined that the Cpytecedure for seizing vehicles, as applied to
vehicle owners with no violations of § 19-506(b)tle 36 months before their vehicles were
seized, violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amen@eendat 492. In reaching
this conclusion, Judge Caproni fistated that, because the seizafegehicles belonging to first-
time violators “are unconstitutional under the Fousthendment,” the initiabeizure of a vehicle
without notice or an opportunity to be heardlates the Due Process Clause as well.at 493.
Turning to the City’s post-seizure procedures, Judge Caproni applied the familiar balancing test of
Matthews v. Eldridge424 U.S. 319 (1976), and concluded @ratindividual’s pivate interest in
the “possession of [her] vehicle” outweighed the Citgterest in “ensur[ingpayment of a fine.”

Id. at 493-94. Judge Caproni specified, however, that her ruling did not address whether vehicles
subject to forfeiture could, coisgent with due process, beized without a prior hearing.
Specifically, Judge Caproni notedatipolice departments have aterest in “preventing vehicles

‘from being sold or destroyed before a court can render judgment in future forfeiture

proceedings,” but found this justification forizseres inapplicable because the TLC “does not
forfeit vehicles of fist-time offenders.”ld. at 494 (quotindg<rimstock v. Kelly306 F.3d 40, 64
(2d Cir. 2002)). After oncluding that the City’s “official, adified municipal paky” violated the

Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments, Judger@a held that the City was liable unddonell v.



Department of Social Services of the City of New Y486 U.S. 658 (1978), “for whatever
damages Plaintiffs who were fitsme violators can prove.id. at 495’

On December 18, 2015, Judge Caproni grantedrirapd denied in part the City’s motion
to reconsider her summary judgment decisi@eeHarrell v. Joshj 2015 WL 9275683, at *1
(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 18, 2015). In selving the City’s motion foreconsideration, Judge Caproni
reiterated that, as she had previously held, Ghg's policy of seizing the vehicles of first time
violators” was unconstitutionalld. at *2. Judge Caprorilso rejected the City’s argument that
her prior decision was erroneous becausedtndit “address the individual circumstances and
evidence surrounding each plaifi§ vehicle seizure,” which sheiewed as a challenge to her
“determination that [she] could defer the adjutiara of individual claimsn this putative class
action and decide only the legal issue presentitl."Judge Caproni did, however, conclude that
two individual plaintiffs, Susafalvo and John Peters Limousines, were not entitled to summary
judgment based on “evidence that they werefimst time violators when the complained of
seizures occurred.Id. at *48 On reconsideration, therefodeidge Caproni denied the plaintiffs’
cross-motion for summary judgmeas to Calvo and John Peters Limousines but granted the
motion as to all other plaintiffsSee id.

After resolving the motion for reconside@t| Judge Caproni granted plaintiffs’ request
for leave to amend their complaibtt denied their request “talé claims on behalf of second or
subsequent violatorsif § 19-506. OrdeHKlarrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-7246 (VEC)
(Feb. 9, 2016) (Dkt. 80). In a conference addregsliaigtiffs’ request for leave to amend, Judge

Caproni stated that “a claim for subsequenzwses of vehicles” would constitute “a whole

" Judge Caproni dismissed the claims against iddalidefendants, finding that the plaintiffs had
alleged no facts that these defendants were persamadliyed in the alleged constitutional violatiorSee
Harrell, 138 F. Supp. 3d at 495-96.

8 Susan Calvo is a named plaintiff in baéthrrell and in this case.
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different case” and that “[t]herare different issues than arevolved in the case you've got in
front of me.” Tr. of Feb. 8, 2016 Conf. at 2:7—Harrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-7246
(VEC) (Mar. 8, 2016) (Dkt. 91). Judge Caproni allemied the plaintiffs’ request to add Angel
DeCastro, who “was driving a vehicle thatshaensed by the Taxi and Limousine Commission
as a car for hire,” as a named plainti8eeOrder at 1Harrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-
7246 (VEC) (Mar. 31, 2016) (Dkt. 96). Judge Capmxplained that “[t]his case was brought on
the theory that straight tag vehicles were being improperly seized; it is too late in the case to alter
the fundamental premise of the caskl” at 2 (internal citation omitted).
C. TheDeCastro Plaintiffs

Against this backdrop, Calvo, DeCastro, anccbtafiled a complaint in this action on May
24, 2016.SeeCompl. (Dkt. 7). Accordig to the Amended Complaint, which is now the operative
complaint in this action, tJhis action is based on substantidtye same legal theories alleged in
Harrell.” Am. Compl. 1 9 (Dkt. 27). As iRarrell, the Plaintiffs in this case claim that the City’s
warrantless seizure of vehicles they ownedoperated violates the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments. See id.{] 128-37, 145-54. There are, however, two principal differences
between the Plaintiffs in this case and thosélamrell: (1) the named Plaintiffs here include
“second or subsequent violators” of § 19-506, apdh@ named Plaintiffs include one individual

who operated a “TLC-licensaathicle,” rather than a tsaight-plate” vehicle.See id{1 9, 11.

° The plaintiffs thereafter filed a motion for clastification, which Judge Caproni denied without
prejudice on September 21, 201SeeOp. & OrderHarrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-7246 (VEC)
(Sept. 21, 2017) (Dkt. 223).

10 plaintiffs also assert a claim for a violation ofidle |1, Section 12 ofhe New York Constitution,
which is identical to their Fourth Amdment claim for purposes of this opiniaeeAm. Compl. 1 138-

44, and for a violation of the New York City Administrative Procedure gex,id.fY 161-64. Although

the Amended Complaint asserts two causes of actimier the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment,see id.{{ 145-60, Plaintiffs clarified at oral argument that they assert a claim only for
procedural due process, not substantive due prasesskt. of Oral Arg. at 4:12-14.
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It is undisputed that, between Novemi2813 and May 2015, TLC inspectors seized
vehicles owned or operated by ed&ihintiff without a warrant.The Court recounts the details of
each of these seizures below.

1. Susan Calvo

On three occasions between Novem®@t3 and March 2015, TLC inspectors seized a
2010 GMC Suburban owned by SusarivGaand bearing the license plate “SSVIP.” In the 36
months before this period began, Calvo had lbeend liable for at least two violations of § 19—
506(b)(1). SeeDef. 56.1 1 28, 30, 38; Decl. of Karen BhNge(“Selvin Decl.”) Exs. H, | (Dkt.
82).

On November 27, 2013, TLC Inspectors Sh&s#a and Thomas Ryan seized Calvo’s
vehicle, which was being driven by Rafael Qlistiiminez, at the JohR. Kennedy International
Airport (“*JFK Airport”) in Queens, New YorkSeeDef. 56.1  33; PI. 56.1 § 27. According to
the inspectors’ notes, Castillo-Jiminez arrived atdingort with a passenger seated in the rear of
the vehicle.SeeDef. 56.1 | 34; Issa Decl. Ex. A. Afteritaxg the vehicle, th passenger told the
inspectors that the vehicle “wascar service arranged and pfaidby her boyfriend,” and that the
vehicle “had picked her up at the W Hotel.” Def. 56.1 { 34, Issa Decl. Ex. A. The inspectors
noted that the vehicle “is not duigensed to operate for hire poitat-point in NYC,” and that the
vehicle owner had “allowed [the] velthe to be used for illegal [forife-vehicle] activity.” Issa
Decl. Ex. A. The inspectors’ notésrther indicate that Castillardinez stated that he “works for
the owner who dispatched him for the trigd. The inspectors issued Calvo a summons, which
indicated that a hearing would be held on December 4, 28d48id.Later that day, Calvo, acting
through Castillo-Jiminez as her representajped guilty to a violation of § 19-506, paid a $600

fine, and received a vehicle release forBeeDef. 56.1 1 37; Pl. 56.1 § 28; Selvin Decl. Ex. G.
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On June 4, 2014, TLC Inspector Philip White sdithe same vehicl&is time driven by
Calvo herself, at the JFK AirporSeeDef. 56.1 | 40; PI. 56.1 § 31; White Decl. Ex. A. According
to White’s notes, two passengers exited the vehatlthe airport and told him that they had
“ordered this vehicle online,” paid for the ride wéleredit card, and wepgcked up in Manhattan.
White Decl. Ex. A. White issued Calvo fosmmmonses, including one for a violation of § 19—
506(b)(1), which indicated that a hey was scheduled for June 17, 20BkeDef. 56.1 1 43—
44; White Decl. § 4, Ex. A. Calvo poste®2,000 bond and received a vehicle release f@ee
Def. 56.1 1 48; Pl. 56.1  32; Selvin Decl. Ex. Kccording to Plaintiffsthe case against Calvo
was “ultimately resolved,”rad her $2,000 bond was returneseePl. 56.1 T 33.

On March 16, 2015, TLC Inspector Zbigniew Finziageized the same vehicle, driven this
time by Susan Calvo’s son, JasBalvo, at the JFK Airport.SeeDef. 56.1  49; PI. 56.1  35;
Fimiarz Decl. 1 4, Ex. A. According to his nsté-imiarz observed two gsengers seated in the
rear of the vehicle exdutside the airportSeeDef. 56.1 § 54; Fimiarz Decl. Ex. A. Fimiarz noted
that the passengers told him trehicle was a “car service,” whiglicked them up at the St. Regis
Hotel in Manhattan. Fimiarz Decl. Ex. A. Finaafurther noted that the “vehicle is not duly
licensed to be operated for hireld. Fimiarz issued Jason Calvo six criminal summonses,
including one for a violation of § 19-506(b)(1), istm indicated that a hearing was scheduled for
March 24, 2015.SeeDef. 56.1 { 51; Fimiarz Decl. Ex. Blhe next day, Susan or Jason Calvo
posted a $2,000 bond and receigegthicle release fornSeeDef. 56.1 § 58; PI. 56.1  36; Selvin
Decl. Ex. M. The charges were “resolvet”a hearing, and ¢hbond was returnedseePl. 56.1

1 36.
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2. Kelly Macon

On December 8, 2014, TLC Inspectors Taufigagdin and Ronald Prioleau seized a 2003
Lincoln Towncar owned and operated by Kelly Macon in BrooklgeeDef. 56.1 { 68; PI. 56.1
1 38; Prioleau Decl. T 4, Ex. A. Accordingth@ir notes, the inspectoobserved Macon pick up
a passenger, who entered the rear of the vehtgeDef. 56.1 § 69; PrioleaDecl. Ex. A. When
the vehicle had stoppédithe passenger told the inspectorst the had agreed to pay Macon $8
for a ride to a shopping malGeeDef. 56.1 § 70; Prioleau Decl. Ex. At the time of this incident,
Macon had been found liable for violating 8§ 19-50@(pwithin the past 36 months, as he had
pled guilty to another violation on July 29, 2018eeDef. 56.1  67; Selvin Decl. Ex. N. The
officers issued Macon a summons, which indic#itetla hearing was scheduled for December 17,
2014. SeePrioleau Decl. Ex. A. On December 8, 2014, Macon pled guilty, paid a $950 fine, and
received a vehicle release fori@eeDef. 56.1 {1 76, 78; Pl. 56.1 § 39; Selvin Decl. Ex. O.

3. Angel DeCastro

On May 28, 2015, a TLC inspector seizad2012 Toyota Camry operated by Angel
DeCastro in ManhattanSeeDef. 56.1 { 10; Selvin Decl. Ex. A; Selvin Decl. Ex. D at 43:11:12.
The vehicle bore “T&LC” license platesSeeDef. 56.1 1 13, 15; Selvin Decl. Ex. D at 41:4-6.
The inspector reported adrwing DeCastro driving the vehickdth two passengers seated in the
rear of the vehicle, ongf whom was holding moneySeeSelvin Decl. Ex. A. According to the
inspector’'s notes, DeCastro ance thassengers “confired fhv activity®? when the vehicle
stopped, explaining that the ride svarranged via preferred care transportation” and that the fare

was to be paid by an insurance compaBgeSelvin Decl. Ex. A. Thaspector further noted that

1 The inspectors’ notes appeaiindicate that they pulled Macon over after he failed to signal for
a left turn. SeePrioleau Decl. Ex. A.
12 There is no dispute that “fhv” refers to “for-hire vehicle.”
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DeCastro “started yelling, screaming, and waseewély disorderly,” statd that “the NYC TLC
is a mafia agency,” and gave the inspector ftingdle finger.” Selvin Decl. Ex. A. The following
day, DeCastro pled guilty to a violation f19-506, agreed to pay a $750 fine, and received a
vehicle release formSeeDef. 56.1 { 20; Selvin Decl. Ex. C.
D. Procedural History

On February 3, 2017, Plaintiffs filed a motion for summary judgm&etePl. Mot. for
Summ. J. (Dkt. 59). On May 8, 2017, Defenddiiésl a cross-motion for summary judgment.
SeeDef. Cross-Mot. for Summ J. @ 77). On June 5, 2017, Plaifgifiled a reply in support of
their motion for summary judgmemnéin opposition to Defendants’ motioBeePl. Reply Mem.
(Dkt. 92). On June 19, 2017, the City filed a yepl further support of their cross-motion for
summary judgmentSeeDef. Reply Mem. (Dkt. 95). On September 6, 2017, the Court held oral
argument.

LEGAL STANDARD

To prevail on a motion for summary judgmetiie movant must show “that there is no
genuine dispute as to amaterial fact and the movant is dletil to judgment as a matter of law.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). “A genuirissue of material fact exists ‘ihe evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could returnvardict for the nonmoving party.”Pollard v. New York Methodist
Hosp, 861 F.3d 374, 378 (2d C2017) (quotingAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242,
248 (1986)). “Summary judgment is appropriatewkhere can be but one reasonable conclusion
as to the verdict, i.e., it is quite clear whattituh is, and no rational factfinder could find in favor
of the nonmovant.” Soto v. Gaudett862 F.3d 148, 157 (2d Cir. 2017) (internal citations and
guotation marks omitted). “When a motiorr fsummary judgment is properly supported by

documents or other evidentiary materialg, plarty opposing summarydgment may not merely

13



rest on the allegations or denials of his pleadiatiier his response, by affidavits or otherwise as
provided in the Rule, must set forspecific facts’ demonstratingdhthere is ‘genuine issue for
trial.”” Wright v. Goord 554 F.3d 255, 266 (2d Cir. 2009) (qguogt Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)}ee
also Celotex Corp. v. Catretg77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). “On a motion for summary judgment,
the court must ‘resolve all ambiguities and draw all permissible factual inferences in favor of the
party against whom summary judgment is soughR&yes v. Lincoln Auto. Fin. Sernd61 F.3d
51, 54 (2d Cir. 2017) (altetians omitted) (quotindurg v. Gosselin591 F.3d 95, 97 (2d Cir.
2010)). In considering cross-motions for summadgment, “the court mugtvaluate each party’s
motion on its own merits, taking care in each ins¢ato draw all reasonbbinferences against
the party whose motion isnder consideration.’Coutard v. Mun. Credit Unign848 F.3d 102,
114 (2d Cir. 2017) (quotin§chwabenbauer v. Bd. of Edue67 F.2d 305, 314 (2d Cir. 1981)).
DISCUSSION
A. IssuePreclusion

The outcome of the parties’ motions in thisectgns, in part, on the preclusive effects of
Judge Caproni’s decisions Harrell. Invoking the doctrine of issupreclusion, or collateral
estoppel, Plaintiffs argue that the City is barfredn litigating several issues that were decided in
Harrell. See, e.g.Pl. Mem. at 18-19; PIl. Reply Me at 2—4. The Court agrees.

“Collateral estoppel, or issymeclusion, prevents partiestheir privies from relitigating
in a subsequent action an issue of fact or law that was fully and fairly litigated in a prior
proceeding.” Marvel Characters, Inc. v. SimpB810 F.3d 280, 288 (2d Cir. 2002). “Collateral
estoppel saves parties and the tofrom the waste and burdenrefitigating stale issues, and, by
discouraging inconsistent results, forwards public policy favdahegstablishment of certainty in

legal relations.”United States v. Alcan Aluminum Cqr@90 F.2d 711, 719 (2d Cir. 1993) (citation
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omitted);see alsd&nvtl. Def. v. EPA369 F.3d 193, 202 (2d Cir. 2004) (“The doctrine serves to
‘relieve parties of the cost and vexation of multilsl@suits, conserve judicial resources, and, by
preventing inconsistent detdns, encourage reliancen adjudication.” (quotingAllen v.
McCurry, 449 U.S. 90, 94 (1980))).

Issue preclusion “bars litigationf an issue when (1) the identical issue was raised in a
previous proceeding; (2) the issue was actudlyated and decided in the previous proceeding;
(3) the party had a full and fair opmanity to litigate tke issue; and (4) thegelution of the issue
was necessary to support a valid and final judgment on the mé?isctor v. LeClaire 715 F.3d
402, 414 (2d Cir. 2013) (citation omitted). For purposes of issue or claim preclusion, summary
judgment is considered a decision on the mei@se, e.g.Ranasinghe v. KennelNo. 16-CV-
2170 (JMF), 2017 WL 384357, & (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 25, 20178mith v. City of New Yorie30 F.
Supp. 3d 819, 828 (S.D.N.Y. 2015jf'd, 664 F. App’x 45 (2d Cir2016) (summary orderRafter
v. Liddlg 704 F. Supp. 2d 370, 375 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); 18 James W. Moore Make’s Federal
Practice§ 132.03 (3d ed. 2015) (“Issue preclusion gaiheapplies when the prior determination
is based on a motion for summary judgmens&e generallAlcan Aluminum Corp990 F.2d at
719 (“We have taken a broad viewtbe application of collateral &gppel to rulings made at an
interim stage of litigation. Estoppielapplied when ‘the litigation of a particular issue has reached

such a stage that a court seesaaily good reason for paitting it to be litgated again.” (quoting

Lummus Co. v. Commonwealth Oil Ref.,@87 F.2d 80, 89 (2d Cir. 1961}}).

13 The City and the TLC do not argue that they, as a general matter, shielded from the doctrine
of nonmutual offensive collateral estoppel. United States v. Mendozd64 U.S. 154 (1984), which
neither party has cited here, the Supreme Court held that this doctrine does not apply against the federal
government. See id.at 158. In reaching this conclusion, the Court noted that the federal government
litigates issues of “substantial public importance” dimationwide basis,” and that a rule permitting the
use of nonmutual offensive collateral estoppel agaivestederal government would deprive the Court of
“the benefit it receives from permitting several courtambeals to explore a difficult question before [it]
grants certiorari.”ld. at 159-60. Courts are split on the question of whéfleeidozaprohibits the use of
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Three issues raised in this case were decidddaimell. First, Judge Caproni decided
whether the seizure of a vehide the basis of a suspected vimatof § 19-506(b)(1) falls within
the so-called “instrumentality of crime” esption to the Fourth Amendment’'s warrant
requirement.SeeDefs.” Mem. in Supp. of Cross-Mdbr Summ J. (“Defs. Mem.”) at 11-15, 19—
20, 21-22 (Dkt. 81)see generallyHorton v. Californig 496 U.S. 128, 136-37 (1990); 3 Wayne
R. LaFaveSearch & Seizurg 7.3(a) (5th ed.). The “identical issue” was raisddarrell: in that
case, the City argued, as it does here, that Tk@eictors could seize vehicles without a warrant
based on probable cause to belithat the vehicles were “instrigntalities” used in the “crime”
of operating or allowing another to operateeaicle for hire withouproper licensing.SeeDefs.
Reply Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss & @pp’n to Cross-Mot. for Summ J. at 3-Harrell
v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-7246 (VEC) (Feb. 19, 2015) (Dkt. 41) (“Defarrell Summ J.
Mem.”); Harrell Oral Arg. Tr. at 15:10-16. This isswas actually litigatedand decided: in
entering summary judgment agairtee City, Judge Caproni spdcHlly rejected the City’s
argument that its “seizures pursuant to 8 19456} do not violate # Fourth Amendment

because they are reasonable and fall withiexaeption to the warrant requirement,” including

nonmutual offensive collateral estoppel aghistate or municipal governmentS&ompare, e.g.ldaho
Potato Comm’n v. G & T Terminal Packaging, Iné25 F.3d 708, 714 (9th Cir. 2005) (holding that
Mendozaapplies in a suit agast a state agencygnd Hercules Carriers, Inc. v. Claimant State of Fla.,
Dep’t of Transp.768 F.2d 1558, 1579 (11th Cir. 1985) (sama&fh Milton S. Kronheim & Co. v. District
of Columbia 91 F.3d 193, 209 n.4 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (declining to extdeddoz&s rule against nonmutual
offensive collateral estoppel to an action against the District of Colunbia) Stevensqri0 A.3d 1212,
1222 n.8 (Pa. 2012) (declining to extend “ihendozadoctrine” to state governmentaydState v. United
Cook Inlet Drift Ass’n895 P.2d 947, 951 (Alaska 1995) (declining to exfdeddozato a suit against a
state government). The Second Circuit has not exteMimtozato suits involving state or local
governments.See Benjamin v. Coughlif05 F.2d 571, 576 (2d Cir. 1990) (distinguishMgndozaand
permitting the use of nonmutual collateral estoppel agaistite agency). In the absence of any argument
from the parties or Second Circuit authority to thatary, the Court assumes that Plaintiffs may invoke
the doctrine of nonmutual offensive collateral estoppel against the City and the TLC.
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the “instrumentalities of crime” exceptiomarrell, 138 F. Supp. 3d at 489.The City had a full
and fair opportunity to litigate éhissue: the City advanced itsistrumentalities of crime”
argument throughout its briefingn@ at oral argument beforédudge Caproni. Finally, the
resolution of this issue was nesary to support the decision the merits: Judge Caproni held
that “the City’s procedure of seizing vehiclesittlare suspected of being used for hire without
proper licensing is unconstitutional” under theuRh Amendment because no exception to the
warrant requirement, including the “instrantalities of crime” exception, appliedd. at 483.
Therefore, under the doctrine of issue preclusilba City is barred fromelitigating whether the
“instrumentality of crime” exception to the FolnirAmendment’s warrant requirement applies to
the warrantless seizure of vehicles baseduspected violations of § 19-506(b)(1).

The City argues that the “insitmentality of crime” issue in th case is not identical to the
issue raised iklarrell because the named Plaintiffs in this case differ in two respects from those
in Harrell. SeeDefs. Mem. at 13. First, unlike tdarrell, some Plaintiffs in this case—Susan
Calvo and Kelly Macon—had been found liable &bteast one prior viation of 8§ 19-506(b)(1)
within the 36 months prior to the seizure of their vehiclseid. at 13. This distinction, while
relevant in analyzing other preclusiquestions in this case, is moaterial to the issue of whether
the “instrumentality of crime” exception appliek both cases, the “crime” for which Plaintiffs’
vehicles could be viewed as “instrumentalities” is the same: the Plaintiffs in this case, like those
in Harrell, were suspected of violatirf)19-506(b)(1). The City is s correct that this case,
unlike Harrell, involves one Plaintiff—Angel DeG&ro—whose vehicle bore TLC licensing

plates at the time that it was seized. As tlity Gas presented its “itrementality of crime”

14 Although this passage iHarrell indicates that the seizures were made “pursuant to § 19—
506(b)(1),” 138 F. Supp. 3d at 489, it appears Hatell intended to reference seizures made pursuant to
§ 19-506h)(1), on the basis of suspected violations of § 19-506(b)(1).
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argument in this case, however, this distinctiomlg immaterial: in both cases, the City has
argued that a vehicle—whatever its license platag read—may be seized without a warrant as
an instrumentality used wiolating 8 19-506(b)(1)Compare, e.g.Defs. Mem. at 12yith Defs.
Harrell Summ J. Mem. at 5. In claiming that thastirumentality of crime” exception applies to
the warrantless seizure of DeCastro’s vehicle Gty has not argued thBeCastro’s alleged use
of TLC license plates should play any roledetermining whether the officers could, consistent
with the Fourth Amendment, seize his vehicle without a watPaifhus, despite the distinctions
between the Plaintiffs in this case and thosHarrell, the issue of whether the “instrumentality
of crime” exception applies to the warrantless sezfrvehicles in this case is identical to the
issue decided inlarrell. See, e.gBenjamin v. Coughlin905 F.2d 571, 575-76 (2d Cir. 1990)
(holding that a state degienent of corrections was precludédm relitigating the validity of a
directive that was found invalid mprior 8 1983 action, despite ttate’s argument that the prior
decision only addressed directivajsplicability to a different groupf individuals, where the state
asserted the same interests in defense of the direatfv®)pnahan v. New York City Dep't of
Corr., 214 F.3d 275, 289-90, 293 (2d C&000) (holding that a municipal department of
corrections was barred, under the doctrine aintlpreclusion, from litigating the validity of a

policy that was previously found unlawful and mgtithat “the mere assertion of new incidents

1> Notably, the City argues that DeCastro’s vehicle was seized on the basis of a suspected violation
of § 19-506(b)(1)—the same crime for which it claithat all other Plaintiffs’ vehicles were used as
“instrumentalities” in both this case andHiarrell. Compare, e.g.Defs. Mem. at 12and Def. 56.1 | 10,
with Defs.Harrell Summ. J. Mem. at 5 & n.6. The City hast argued that DeCastro’s vehicle was seized
on the basis of a suspected violation of § 19-50B(bwhich prohibits any person from operating or
allowing another to operate a vehicle for hire “in a manner that is beyond the scope of the activities
permitted by such vehicle’s license.” N.Y.C. Admin. Code § 19-506(lgé®Defs. Mem. at 12 n.12
(rejecting Plaintiffs’ allegation that the City seized DeCastro’s vehicle on the grounds that DeCastro was
“acting beyond the scope of [his] license”). Accagly, this case does not present the question of whether
TLC inspectors could seize a vehicle without a warraahdsstrumentality of crime” used in the violation
of § 19-506(b)(2).
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arising from the application of the challengealicy is insufficient to bar the application s
judicatd’); Maneely v. City of Newburgh256 F. Supp. 2d 204, 209-10 (S.D.N.Y. 2003)
(concluding that the issue of whether a citgtap search policy for grarraignment detainees
violated the Fourth Amendment was “precistbly issue” decidikin a prior 8 1983 action, despite
factual differences between the searches at isstieletermining that theity did not have a full
and fair opportunity to litigate the issusge generallyJoshua M. D. Segal, NotRebalancing
Fairness and Efficiency: The Offensiveels Collateral Estoppel in § 1983 Actior@® B.U. L.
Rev. 1305 (2009).

Second, Judge Caproni decided whether thealied “exigent circumstances” exception
to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requiremepytli@s to the warrantleseizure of a vehicle,
where TLC inspectors allegedly suspaatiolation of Section 19-506(b)(15eeDefs. Mem. at
16, 20, 22. The City raisatie identical issue iRlarrell, arguing that “exigent circumstances”
necessitated the warrantless seizure of vehi8@esDefs.Harrell Summ J. Mem. at 7-®arrell
Oral Arg Tr. at 19:11-16Indeed, the City supported this argument with the same reasoning it
provides here: in both cases, the City has pdirtb the New York City Council’s alleged
determination that illegal for-hire vehicles poseimmediate threat to public welfare and safety
as evidence of “exigent circumstances” that Waudcessitate an immediate seizure of a vehicle
suspected of violating 8 19-506(b)(Qompare, e.gDefs. Mem. at 16, 20, 2®&jth Defs.Harrell
Summ J. Mem. at 3-@&nd Harrell Oral Arg. Tr. at 19:11-16. Thissue was actually litigated
and decided: Judge Caproni speeaifly rejected the {B/’s argument thatexigent circumstances
justify the seizures because the vehicles areraémitly dangerous” or because “the seizures are
justified to protect public safety.Harrell, 138 F. Supp. 3d at 489. dlCity had a full and fair

opportunity to litigate the isg) advancing its “exigent cumstances” theory throughout the
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proceedings before Judge CaprddeeDefs.Harrell Summ J. Mem. at 7-®{arrell Oral Arg Tr.
at 19:11-16. And like the “instrumentality of crime” issue, the applicability of the “exigent
circumstances” exception to tharrant requirement was neceayst support Judge Caproni’s
decision on the merits: Judge Caproni determinatttie City’s warrantkes seizure of vehicles
on the basis of suspected violations of 8§ 19-Bf{&] violated the Fotin Amendment in part
because “exigent circumstances” could not justit.C inspectors’ failure to obtain warrants
before seizing vehicles. Accordingly, under thetdoe of issue preclusn, the City is barred
from relitigating whether the warrantless seizure of a vehicle, on the basis of a suspected violation
of § 19-506(b)(1), falls whin the “exigent circumstances” eaption to the Fourth Amendment’s
warrant requiremenif.

Finally, Judge Caproni decided whether thwse of vehicles belonging to “first-time
violators” of § 19-506(b)(1), without a pribearing, violates the Due Process ClauSeeDefs.

Mem. at 22—253/ In Harrell, the City raised the identical issuke City argued that a pre-seizure

18 The City claims that the seizures of vehidletonging to Macon and DeCastro involved certain
“exigencies” that were absent Harrell. For example, the City points to Macon’s criminal record and
DeCastro’s “disorderly” response to the TLC offiedno seized his vehicle as distinctions between this
case andHarrell. This argument is not persuasive: Judgpr@ai ruled that concerns about public safety
or perceived exigencies could not, as a matter of lastifjuhe City’s failure to obtain a warrant before
seizing vehicles pursuant to § 19-506(h)(1). Indeed, Judge Caproni’'s decision on the City’s motion for
reconsideration made plain that her award of summalyment to plaintiffs did not rest on any analysis
of “the individual circumstances and evidence surroundaun plaintiff's vehicle seizure,” but rather on a
determination that “the City'policy’ was unconstitutional.Joshj No. 14-CV-7246 (VEC), 2015 WL
9275683, at *1-2 (emphasis added). Amd later ruling on attorney’s fees, Judge Caproni stated that “the
issue at summary judgment was whether the Ciiglcy of seizing cars was unconstitutional; individual
distinctions between the named plaintiffs were not nadtto the Court’s decision at that time.” Order,
Harrell v. City of New YorkNo. 14-CV-7246 (VEC) (Sept. 15, 2017) (Dkt. 222). The “individual
circumstances” related to the saizsl of vehicles belonging to Macon and DeCastro do not, therefore,
provide a basis for the City to avoid the preclusive effects of Judge Caproni’'s decision that the “exigent
circumstances” exception does not applyhe warrantless seizure of vehicles pursuant to § 19-506(h)(1).

In any event, the City has not prouvitien adequate basis for concludingtthither Macon’s criminal record
or DeCastro’s disorderly conduct presented any exigency that would justify the warrantless seizure of their
vehicles.

71n this case, the City raises this issue only @&3aGastro, who had not been found liable for any
violations of § 19-506(b)(1) in the 3Bonths before his vehicle was seized.
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hearing was not required before the vehicles affinse violators were seized because it afforded
these individuals a “post-deprivan opportunity to be heard.SeeDefs.Harrell Summ J. Mem.
at 9-13. At times using identicinguage as it does ihis case, the Citysserted that its
“significant enforcement and public safety instsein immediately seizing an unlicensed for-hire
vehicle,” including a vehicle ownext operated by a first-time viaior of 8 19-506(b)(1), justified
its failure to providere-seizure hearingdd. at 9; Defs. Mem. at 23. Thissue was also litigated
and decided: Judge Caproni held that the Cityiegefirst-time violatas due process by seizing
their vehicles without fst providing a hearingSee Harrell 138 F. Supp. 3d &92-95. The City
had a full and fair opportunity tatibate this issue, as it advancisl view that Due Process did
not require pre-seizutearings throughout thearrell proceedings, and Jud@aproni’s decision
on the issue was, of course, necessary to her detrom that plaintiffs were entitled to summary
judgment on their Due Process claim. Thus, thg i€ibarred from relitigating whether its failure
to provide a hearing before the seizing the elelsi belonging to first-time violators of § 19—
506(b)(1) satisfies the procedural regments of the Due Process Clatfse.

As Judge Caproni carefully noted, howewdarrell did not address éhconstitutionality
of the City’s procedure for seizing vehicles belmggto individuals whosgehicles are subject to
forfeiture under 8 19-506(h)(2). Indeed, Judge Caproni explicitly stieell did not involve
the questions of whether inspectors had “probable cause to believe that the vehicle to be seized is

subject to civil forfeiture” or whether the Cityould retain possessianf vehicles “pending

18 The Court expresses no view on the merits of Judge Caproni's decisions on the issues that the
City attempts to relitigate in this cas&ee Johnson v. Watkjns01 F.3d 792, 795 (2d Cir. 1996) (“By
foregoing the opportunity to reexamine an issue, aegegf certainty about the correctness of the prior
result is sacrificed, that is to say, the bar of collhestoppel carries with it the devastating danger that the
first decision on an issue may have been wrong andemil&in unremedied. Use of the doctrine represents
an informed choice that the ocaasal permanent encapsulation of a wrong result is a price worth paying
to promote the worthy goals of ending disputed avoiding repetitive litiggon.” (citation omitted)).
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forfeiture proceedings.”See138 F. Supp. 3d at 487. These questions, whidharrell did not
decide, take center stage here, as the City atgaethe vehicles belonging to two of the named
Plaintiffs—Susan Calvo and Kelly Macon—wesebject to forfeitureunder 8 19-506(h)(2).
Thus, the central issue in this case, unlikelamrell, is whether the forfeiture provision of § 19—
506(h)(2) justifies the City’s failure to obtain warrants or conduct hearings before seizing vehicles
owned or operated by individuadsspected of unlicensed activify.
B. Fourth Amendment

The Fourth Amendment protectsethights of indivduals “to be securm their persons,
houses, papers, and effects, agaimseasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV.
“A seizure occurs when the Government interfemesome meaningful wawith the individual's
possession of propertyUnited States v. Ganiagb5 F.3d 125, 133 (2d Cir. 2014ycordUnited
States v. JacobsenA66 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). It is well ddtahed that warrantless searches or
seizures are presumptively unreasonaldee, e.gKentucky v. King563 U.S. 452, 459 (2011);
United States v. Babiloni®54 F.3d 163, 178 (2d Cir. 2017). “Nmtheless, because the ultimate
touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is ‘reastaradss,” the warrant reqement is subject to
certain exceptions.”Brigham City v. Stuart547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006) (quotifdjppo v. West

Virginia, 528 U.S. 11, 13 (1999) (per curiam)).

191n passing in its briefing and ifwesentation at oral argumentHiarrell, the City noted that a
vehicle belonging to Susan Calvo, who is also a naptautiff in this case, was subject to forfeiture under
§ 19-506(h)(2) based on Calvo’s prigolations of § 19-506(b)(1)SeeDefs.Harrell Summ. J. Mem. at
16; Harrell Oral Arg. Tr. at 28:3—-4, 28:17-22. The Citg diot, however, clearly present this argument to
Judge Caproni, who initially ruledn the motions without addressing the possible applicability of the
forfeiture provision to thélarrell plaintiffs.

20 The City’s arguments in opposition to DeCastro’s motion for summary judgment are entirely
precluded. The City argues thadlitl not violate DeCastro’s Fourkmendment rights because the seizure
of his vehicle fell within the “instrumentality afrime” and “exigent circumstances” exceptions to the
warrant requiremenseeDefs. Mem. at 11-15, and that it didt deny DeCastro due process because,
although DeCastro was a “first-time” violator ofL§-506(b)(1), a hearing was not required before his
vehicle was seizedee id.at 22—-25. As discussed above, Judge Caproni decided all these issues against
the City inHarrell. Accordingly, DeCastro is entitled to summary judgment.
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The relevant exception in this case is #itecalled “forfeiture” exception, under which
“law enforcement officers who have probable ssauo believe an automobile is subject to
forfeiture may both seize the vehicle from a public place and search it without a watraned
States v. Gaskjr864 F.3d 438, 458 (2d Cir. 2004) (citirtprida v. White 526 U.S. 559, 561
(1999));see also, e.gUnited States v. Smith10 F.3d 641, 651 (6th Cir. 2007) (“When police
have probable cause to believe that an automisbitefeitable contraband, it may be seized from
a public place without a warrant.'Jnited States v. Mendoz438 F.3d 792, 796 (7th Cir. 2006)
(“[T]he weight of authority holdghat police may seize a cartlhout a warranpursuant to a
forfeiture statute if they have probable cause to believe that the car is subject to forfeiture.”
(alterations and citation omitted)ynited States v. Brookin845 F.3d 231, 235 (4th Cir. 2003)
(holding that, under federal forfertistatutes, “the police may geian automobile without first
obtaining a warrant when they hapmbable cause to believe tliais forfeitable contraband”);
Matos v. City of New YoriNo. 11-CV-3107 (AJN), 2013 WL 425446, at *4 n.6 (S.D.N.Y. Feb.
1, 2013) (“[T]he warrantless seizure of a vehicle beligeebe subject to forfeiture does not offend
the Constitution.”)see generall8 Wayne R. LaFavesearch & Seizurg@ 7.3(b) (5th ed.). “To
establish probable cause, the Government beabsiten of demonstrating that it had ‘reasonable
grounds to believe the property is subject to ftufei, and that these gnmoads must rise above the
level of mere suspicion."Oyekoya v. United Statelk/5 F. Supp. 2d 522, 524-25 (S.D.N.Y. 2001)
(quotingUnited States v. Daccarett F.3d 37, 55 (2d Cir. 1993pff'd, 28 F. App’x 82 (2d Cir.
2002) (summary order).

The City argues that TLC inspectors had probable cause to believe that the vehicles owned
by Calvo and Macon were subject to forfeitwunder 8 19-506(h)(2), which makes a vehicle

forfeitable if the owner has been convicted ofarnd liable for at leagtvo violations of § 19—
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506(b) within 36 months. N.Y.C. Admin. Code 8§ 19-506(h)¢é2gDefs. Mem. at 17-19, 21.
This argument is not persuasive. The City pvasided no evidence that the TLC inspectors who
effected the seizures at issue had any reasobabie for believing thatalvo or Macon had been
“convicted” of or “found liable” for any prior violatns at the time of theigeres. N.Y.C. Admin.
Code § 19-506(h)(2). None of tirspectors involved in these seies claims that he had any
specific information regarding theolation histories of these twiadividuals before seizing their
vehicles?! None of the inspectors statiat he even investigatedetiprior violations, if any, of
Calvo or Macon prior to the seizures at issli@e summonses issued by these inspectors, while
recounting details about the vehicles and tlpéctors’ communicationsith the drivers and
passengers, do not mention the violaticstdres of either Calvo or MacorseeWhite Decl. Ex.

A; Prioleau Decl. Ex. A; Issa DedEx. A; Fimiarz Decl. Ex. A.

To be sure, the inspectors’ declarations indi¢hat, in the course of vehicle stops more
generally, the inspectors datgne whether the vehicle owndias “previously received a
summons.”SeeWhite Decl. {1 5-6; Prioleau Decl. 11 54€sa Decl. 11 5-6; Fimiarz Decl. 11 5-
6. Knowledge that an owner has receiveduariisions,” however, doast provide a reasonable
basis for concluding that she has been “coeditbf or “found liable” fa violating § 19-506(b).
Under the City’s rules, a tenmons” refers only to aratlegedviolation,” nota conviction or
finding of liability. 35 R.C.NY. 8 68-06(a) (emphasis addesge also Black’s Law Dictionary
(10th ed. 2014) (defining a “surons” as a “writ or process commencing the plaintiff's action
and requiring the defendant tppear and answer”). Moreover, undee undisputed facts of this

case, a summons is not a reliable indicator @raviction or a finding ofiability: several of the

21 Although four inspectors involved in these seeauhave submitted declarations, none provides
any specific information abouihe seizures at issu&eeWhite Decl.; Prioleau Decl.; Issa Decl.; Fimiarz
Decl. Rather, each declaration attaches a summuhyexifies that the information contained in the
summons is accurat&seeWhite Decl.; Prioleau Decl.; Issa Decl.; Fimiarz Decl.
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summonses issued during the vehicle seizurssa¢ did not result in @nviction or finding of
liability. SeePl. 56.1 11 33, 36. Thus, knowledge thatiaedror owner has pwiously received
a summons provides inspectors too little informatmfer that he or shhas been convicted of
or found liable for the viokon alleged therein.

Indeed, in a variety of coexts, courts have recognizéldat a document initiating a
criminal action, like a summons, fails to provideagiequate basis for as@arning an individual’s
record of conviction.See, e.g.Shepard v. United Statgs44 U.S. 13, 21 (2005) (holding that a
sentencing court may not look to charging docusién determine a defendant’s record of
conviction in prior casesynited States v. Dantzler71 F.3d 137, 146-47 (2d Cir. 2014) (holding
that a district court plainly erred in relying tarrest reports” to deterime whether a defendant
had been convicted of a prior offense for purpadeentencing under the Armed Career Criminal
Act). Likewise here, the fact that Calvo oalbn had received a summons in a prior case, without
any further information about the case, doesprovide TLC inspectors a reasonable basis for
concluding that their vebles are subject to faiture under § 19-506(h)(2).

In its reply brief, the Citynvokes the so-called “collecévknowledge doctrine,” arguing
that TLC radio room operators’ access to infation regarding the “disposition of the summons”
provides a basis for inferring that the TLC inspectors who seized Calvo’s and Macon’s vehicles
knew whether their prior summonses had resuitambnvictions or findings of liability SeeDef.
Reply Mem. at 7; Torres RepDecl. § 7. “The collective knowtige doctrine provides that, for
the purpose of determining whettaer arresting officer had probabtause to arrest, ‘where law
enforcement authorities are cooperating in arestigation, the knowledge of one is presumed
shared by all.” Savino v. City of New Yaqr831 F.3d 63, 74 (2d Cir. 2003) (alteration omitted)

(quotinglllinois v. Andreas 463 U.S. 765, 772 n.5 (1983%c¢cord Babilonia 854 F.3d at 178.
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The Second Circuit has, howevétecline[d] to extendhe collective knowledgdoctrine to cases
where . . . there is no evidence that an offlt&s communicated his suspies with the officer
conducting the search, even when the officers are working closely together at a &beited’
States v. Hussaj835 F.3d 307, 316 n.8 (2d Cir. 201$9g also, e.gUnited States v. Massenburg
654 F.3d 480, 495 (4th Cir. 2011) (“Where o#fis working closely together haveot
communicategertinent information, the ang officer weighs the cosgsd benefits of performing
the search in total ignance of the existence of that infation—it is not knowrto her, so it
cannot enter into the calculigemphasis in original))nited States v. Edward885 F.2d 377,
382 (7th Cir. 1989) (“A supervising officer’s &wledge about a defendant cannot be relied upon
to provide probable cause forsharrest where there is no evidence that such knowledge was
communicated to the agents on sttene who actually made or oreleé the defendant’s arrest.”);
see generally8 Wayne R. LaFave&earch & Seizur@ 3.5(c) (5th ed.). In this case, while TLC
radio room operators may havelreccess to information concernithg disposition of summonses
against Calvo or Macorhere is no evidence that any operatonveyed this information to the
inspectors who seized theirhieles. Accordingly, the colléiwe knowledge doctrine provides no
basis for inferring that the inspectors whozs€i vehicles belonging to Calvo or Macon had
knowledge that they had been cated or found liable for any pniaviolations of 8 19-506(b)(1).
SeeHussain 835 F.3d at 316 n.8ge also, e.gUnited States v. Coloi250 F.3d 130, 137 (2d Cir.
2001) (finding that a 91@perator’'s knowledge could not be imgdtto dispatching or arresting
officers in determining whether the officers hadsonable suspicion tmnduct a search, where
the operator did not convey this knowledge to the officde)kson v. Telladd®236 F. Supp. 3d
636, 660—61 (E.D.N.Y. 2017)dacluding that, undddussain the collective knowledge doctrine

was inapplicable, where arresting officers’ knowledfgeut a plaintiff's arguable crimes “was not
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communicated” to two other officers accused of false arrfgsijed States v. PetersoNo. 12-
CR-409 (PAE), 2012 WL 4473298, at *8 (S.D.N.Sept. 28, 2012) (finding that information
provided to 911 operator could not be imputednesting officers, where the operator did not
communicate this information to the officers,“asly the information conveyed to [the officers]
counts for purposes of determining reasonable suspicaif't), 559 F. App’'x 92 (2d Cir. 2014)
(summary order)Hickey v. City of New YorlNo. 01-CV-6506 (GEL), 2004 WL 2724079, at *8
(S.D.N.Y. Nov. 29, 2004) (“[T]he evaluation girobable cause must depend solely on the
information relayed by the operators and dispatth the arresting officers themselves.”).
Because Plaintiffs bring this action agaiasmunicipality, they must show not only a
violation of their onstitutional rights but also “the existerafea municipal policy or practice that
caused the alleged constitutional violation” to previitchell v. City of New York841 F.3d 72,
80 (2d Cir. 2016) (citingvionell v. Dep’'t of SocServs. of City of N.Y436 U.S. 658, 694-95
(1978)). Plaintiffs have satisfied this burdehhe TLC’s Deputy Chief of Enforcement, Edwin
Mulero, testified at his deposition that the inspectdos’t look” at “whether or not [a] vehicle or
[a] driver has been cited for a violation ofcdion 19-506”" when seizingehicles. St. Laurent
Decl. Ex. 3 at 77:6—13. Though Mulero acknowlatitfet inspectors cadicall a “900 number”
to determine “whether that vehichas been seized before,” lieequivocally stated that this
information “does not play into any decisiortlifat vehicle’s going to be seized or notd. at
77:16-20. The City has provided no contrary emitk of its policy: the undisputed evidence
shows that TLC inspectors do notvbegorobable cause to believe a vehicle is subject to forfeiture
under 8§ 19-506(h)(2) when they seize vehicles daspected violationef § 19-506(b)(1).
Accordingly, Plaintiffs are ditled to summary judgment against the City on their Fourth

Amendment claim.
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C. Due Process

Plaintiffs next claim that the City’s proce@ufor seizing vehicles subject to forfeiture
pursuant to 8 19-506(h)(2) violatee Due Process Clause of theurteenth Amendment. The
Court disagrees.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that “No state shall . . . deprive any person
of . . . property, without due press of law.” U.S. Const. ame. XIV. “In a § 1983 suit brought
to enforce procedural due process rights, a coudt determine (1) whether a property interest is
implicated, and, if it is(2) what process is due befdhe plaintiff may be dejwed of thatinterest.”
Nnebe v. Daus644 F.3d 147, 158 (2d Cir. 201%).“The appropriate process depends on the
balancing of three factor§l) ‘the private interest that will beffected by the official action;’ (2)
‘the risk of erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedsees’ and (3) ‘the
Government’s interest, including the function inxed and the fiscal aradministrative burdens
that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entRiaiizella v. Sposat&63
F.3d 210, 218 (2d Cir. 2017) (quotiMpthews v. Eldridge424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976)).

In this case, Plaintiffs argubat the City denied them dgpeocess by failing to conduct a
hearing prior to seizing their vehicleSeePls. Mem. at 17-19. Plaiffs are correct that “the
root requirement’ of the Due Process Clause”tisdt an individual be given an opportunity for a
hearingbeforehe is deprived of any gmificant propert interest.” Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v.
Loudermill 470 U.S. 532, 542 (1985) (emphasis in original) (qudBioddie v. ConnecticuftO1
U.S. 371, 379 (1971)). While “[tlh'general rule’ is that a pre-gdavation hearing is required,”
however, “theMlathewsnquiry ‘provides guidance in deterniig whether to toleite an exception

to the rule requiring pre-depation notice and hearing."Nnebe 644 F.3d at 158 (citation and

22 The parties do not dispute that a property interest is implicated in this case.
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some internal quotatiomarks omitted) (quotinglrimstock v. Kelly 306 F.3d 40, 60 (2d Cir.
2002)). Thus, “[d]ue process does not, incalbes, require a hearing before the statferes
with a protected interest, so long as ‘some fafmiearing is provided before an individual is
finally deprived of tle property interest.”1d. (alterations omitted) (emphasis in original) (quoting
Brody v. Vill. of Port Chested34 F.3d 121, 134 (2d Cir. 2005%ge also Giglio v. Dunrv32
F.2d 1133, 1135 (2d Cir. 1984) (“Where a pre-degiton hearing is img@ctical and a post-
deprivation hearing is meaningftihe State satisfies its constitunal obligations by providing the
latter.”).

In a series of cases beginning withimstock v. Kelly 306 F.3d 40 (2d Cir. 2002)
(Krimstock ), the Second Circuit has addressed tly@irements of procedural due process when
the government seizes vehicles and retains posseddioem pursuanb civil forfeiture statutes.

In Krimstock | the Second Circuit considerdlge constitutionality of &ivil forfeiture statute,
pursuant to which the City of New York seize@ tehicles of individual “accused of driving
while intoxicated or of committing other crimes fshich a motor vehicle could be considered an
instrumentality” and retained them for “monthssmmetimes years,” without a hearing before a
neutral fact-finder, pending the “ultimate regen of the forfeiture action in court.Id. at 43, 48.
Applying Matthews v. Eldridgethe Second Circuit balanced thédividual’'s interest in possessing
her vehicle against the governmsninterest in “prevent[ingla vehicle from being sold or
destroyed before a court ceender judgment in futur@rfeiture proceedings.’Krimstock | 306
F.3d at 64. The Second Circuit héfét the forfeiture law wagonstitutionally infirm” because

it did not afford vehicle owners a “prompt pastizure hearing to test probable cause for the
vehicle’s seizure.”ld. at 45, 48. While the Seco@ircuit left the task of determining what this

hearing should entail to “the district court, donsultation with the parties,” it noted that “the
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hearing must enable claimants to test the lbaalidity of continued deprivation of their
vehicles, including the City’s pbable cause for the initial warrantless seizure,” and that “the
retention hearing [should] allow tlieeutral magistrate] to considethether less dstic measures
than continued impoundment, such as a bond mstaining order, would protect the City’s
interest in the allegedly forfeitable vehicldd. at 69-70.

On remand, the district court fashioned #tandard for what is now known asaifstock
hearing.” See Krimstock v. Kellyp06 F. Supp. 2d 249, 251 (S.D.N.Y. 20(jihstock 1l). The
district court determined that, at a postiaes hearing, a municipality must prove, by a
preponderance of the evidenceatttia) probable cause existed fine arrest of the vehicle’s
operator, b) it is likely the City would prevail @n action to forfeit the vehicle, and c) it is
necessary that the lmele remain impounded in order to ensisevailability inthe eventual civil
forfeiture action.” Id. at 252. The Second Circuit affirmétese procedures, which the City did
not challenge on appedbee Jones v. Kellg78 F.3d 198, 204 (2d Cir. 200 So too did the New
York Court of Appeals, which has adoptederstially the same anical framework.See County
of Nassau v. Canavaf N.Y.3d 134, 144-45 (N.Y. 2003) (holdititat, when retaining a vehicle,
a municipality must “establish thatobable cause existed for tthlefendant’s initial warrantless
arrest, that it is likely to succeed on the meatsthe forfeiture action, and that retention is
necessary to preserve the vehfoben destruction or sale durirtige pendency of the proceeding”).
Since these decisions, courts within 8econd Circuit have routinely lookedKeoimstocklll as
the standard for evaluating procedural due peataims asserted by indluals whose vehicles
are seized as instrumentalitie$ crime and retained by the government pending forfeiture

proceedingsSee, e.gReyes v. County of Suffp@95 F. Supp. 2d 215, 224-26 (E.D.N.Y. 2014);
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Fasciana v. County of Suffol®96 F. Supp. 2d 174, 181-82 (E.D.N.Y. 20E8rrari v. County
of Suffolk 790 F. Supp. 2d 34, 39 (E.D.N.Y.2023).

In the context of vehicles s®d pursuant to thferfeiture provision of 8 19-506(h)(2), the
City’s post-seizure prockire satisfies due process. Althougk City did not provide hearings
before seizing vehicles allegedly subject toddtire under 8 19-506(h)(4)s procedures provide
a “prompt post-seizure hearing to testlpable cause for the vehicle’s seizur&timstock | 306
F.3d at 45. In particular, theit¢s rules provide that a heag must be conducted “within five
business days following a seizure85 R.C.N.Y. § 68-17(c)(1). Ati#hhearing, eachf the three
Krimstockfactors must be decidedd. First, the Taxi and Limousine Tribunal must determine
whether “probable cause existed for Hreest of the velle’s operator, Krimstock 11, 506 F.
Supp. 2d at 252, as the Cityides require a determination as'w]hether the Owner engaged in
the Unlicensed Activity allegenh the summons,” 35 R.C.N.\8 68-17(c)(1)(A). Second, the
tribunal must determine whether the City is é&ik to succeed on the nisr of the forfeiture
action,”Krimstock Ill, 506 F. Supp. 2d at 252, as the City'lesurequire the tribunal to determine
whether the statutory requirements for forfeitttbat is, “[wlhether the owner has two or more
violations of 88 19-506(b), (c), €k) . . . in the previous 36 emths’—have been satisfied, 35
R.C.N.Y. § 68-17(c)(1)(B)(i). Firlg, the tribunal must decide welther “it is necessary that the
vehicle remain impounded in order to ensure its aviithain the eventual aiil forfeiture action.”

Krimstock Ill, 506 F. Supp. 2d at 258e35 R.C.N.Y. § 68-17(c)(1)(B)(i)). Plaintiffs do not

2 |n Ferrari v. County. of SuffoJk845 F.3d 46 (2d Cir. 2016), the Second Circuit held that, at a
hearing following the seizure of a vehicle as an imsemtality of crime, the government may “after making
out a prima facia case that retention is necessary to pjité¢aiterests in the financial value of the vehicle
and/or in protecting the public from continued unsafé illegal driving . . . shift the burden of going
forward to the title owner to identify an alternative meaghat would satisfy the [government’s] interests.”
Id. at 48. WhileFerrari clarified the allocation of burdens in pestizure hearings, it did not change the
three substantive elements of fi@mstockanalysis.
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argue that the City's procedures conducting post-seizure hearingd, in any way, to satisfy
KrimstocKs requirements for procedural due procésdNor is there any evidence that the City
has meaningfully departed from its own rules iizisg and retaining any vehicles in this case.
Accordingly, by providing for prompt post-seizunearings at which the probable cause for the
vehicles seizures allegedly sabj to forfeiture may be testethe City has provided Calvo and
Macon due process.

Moreover, the City further ameliorates any gt due process concerns with its retention
of vehicles pending forfeiture proceedings bynpiging vehicle owners to post bonds and retrieve
their vehicles almost immediately after they aeized. On June 2014, for example, Susan
Calvo posted a bond and retrieivieer vehicle in a matter dfours after it was seize8eeDef.
56.1 9 48; PI. 56.1 § 32. WhiletiCourt recognizes that poxgia bond may impose a substantial
financial burden on vehicle owners, the Gtyprocedure of making bonds available—and
returning vehicles to their ownersvell in advance of its post-seiaihearings provides a form of
protection that the Second Circuit has long recogphias an important safeguard in any forfeiture
scheme See, e.gKrimstock | 306 F.3d at 70 (explaining that a pesizure hearing should “allow
the [neutral magistrate] to consider whetless drastic measures than continued impoundment,
such as a bond or a restraining order, would proecCity’s interest in the allegedly forfeitable
vehicle”); see also United States v. All Atssef Statewide Auto Parts, In871 F.2d 896, 905 (2d
Cir. 1992) (noting that, in the camit of civil forfeiture statutegourts “whenever possible should

favor less drastic measures, such as . . . bonds2rordingly, the City’sundisputed practice of

24 The Court notes, however, that the City’s rules do not explicitly provide that the City, and not
the vehicle owner, bears the burden of proving the firstdwmstockfactors by a preponderance of the
evidence. Rather, the rules simglyate that a “determination will be made” regarding each factor. 35
R.C.N.Y. 8§ 68-17(c)(1). The Court need not address whether the absence of an explicit assignment of
burdens under the City’s rules rendisgprocedures constitutionally dekcit, however, as Plaintiffs make
no such argument in this case.
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permitting vehicle owners to retrieve their vebs by posting bond before a post-seizure hearing
reinforces the Court’s conclusion that théyGi procedures comply with due process.

Plaintiffs argue that the Cityjsrocedures for seizing their vehicles nonetheless violate due
process because the City does not, as a practatéér, pursue forfeiture against vehicle owners
pursuant to 8 19-506(h)(2). Plaff¢ are correct thatduring the proposedads period in this
case, the City did not bring any feiture proceedings under 8 19-506(h)@¢eSt. Laurent Decl.

Ex. 42° In Plaintiffs’ view, this fact is relevamitecause it suggests thaé t@ity does not, as the
government did irkrimstock have any interest in “prevemtfi] a vehicle from being sold or
destroyed before a court can render judgneriuture forfeiture proceedings.Krimstock 306

F.3d at 64. The Court disagrees. By providingt the vehicles belonging to certain repeat
offenders are “subject to forfere;” N.Y.C. Admin. Code § 19-506)(2), the law explicitly grants

the City an interest in forfeitable vehicles. The City does not lose this legal interest simply by
deciding not to exercise its forfeiture authority-dexision that may benefit many vehicle owners.
Although it has not sought forfeiture in the pabe City nonetheless has a legal interest in
forfeitable vehicles that may, under certain cirstances, justify its failure to provide a hearing
before seizing them.

The Court recognizes Plaintiffpractical concern that the City could, by invoking its
forfeiture authority, retain possession of velécpending forfeiture proceedings that may never
occur. The City’s post-seizure procedure, howegdrilored to address precisely this concern.
At the post-seizure hearing, the tribunal mustmeitge “[w]hether it is necessary that the vehicle
remain impounded pending a judgment of forfeitur83 R.C.N.Y. 8 68-17§¢1)(B)(ii). If the

City does not intend to seek forfeiture, as PlH#m&rgue, it will surely faito show that continued

2 After this action was filed, the City has broughieast one forfeiture action against a non-party
defendant.SeeCompl.,City of New York v. HarrigNo. 451060/2017 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Apr. 24, 2017).
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retention is “necessary,” and the City would bguieed to release the vehicle under its own rules.
This procedure adequately balantles City’s interest in enforcing the forfeiture provisions of
City law—if only in the rare case—and the vehiolwner’s interest in taining possession of her
vehicle. Thus, even if it is unlikely that thé&yCwill ultimately forfeit the vehicles it seizes under
8 19-506(h)(2), its proceduresrf@nsuring that it does not taén vehicleslonger than
“necessary . . . pending a judgment of forfeituadéequately protect vatie owners’ procedural
due process rights. 35 RNCY. 8§ 68-17(c)(1)(B)(ii).

In sum, the Court concludes that the Citgi®cedure for seizing and retaining vehicles

allegedly subject to forfeitungursuant to 8 19-506(h)(8oes not violate the Due Process Clause.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment and Defendants’
cross-motion for summary judgment are both granted in part and denied in part. Specifically,
Plaintiffs’ motion is granted with respect to all claims asserted by Angel DeCastro and granted
with respect to the Fourth Amendment claim and New York constitutional claim asserted by Susan
Calvo and Kelly Macon. Defendants’ motion is granted with respect to the Due Process claim
asserted by Susan Calvo and Kelly Macon. All claims against the New York City Taxi and
Limousine Commission (the “TLC”), are dismissed, as “agencies of New York City are not suable
entities in § 1983 actions.” Nnebe, 644 F.3d at 158 n.8. Count Five of the Amended Complaint
is dismissed under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). The motions are otherwise denied.

No later than October 9, 2017, the parties shall submit a joint letter proposing a briefing
schedule on Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification.

The Clerk of Court is respectfully directed to terminate the motions pending at Docket
Entries 59 and 77.
SO ORDERED.

Dated:  September 30, 2017
New York, New York

-

_»»’“"’//
RonnieAbrams——"
United States District Judge
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